
 

Any person who requires accommodation to participate in this meeting should contact the District office at (909) 797-5117, at least 
48 hours prior to the meeting to request a disability-related modification or accommodation. 
 
Materials that are provided to the Board of Directors after the meeting packet is compiled and distributed will be made available 
for public review during normal business hours at the District office located at 12770 Second Street, Yucaipa.  Meeting materials 
are also available on the District’s website at www.yvwd.dst.ca.us 
 

 
 

Notice and Agenda of a Board Workshop 
Thursday, March 8, 2018 at 4:00 p.m. 

 

 

MEETING LOCATION: District Administration Building 
 12770 Second Street, Yucaipa 

 

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD: Director Chris Mann, Division 1 
Director Bruce Granlund, Division 2 
Director Jay Bogh, Division 3 
Director Lonni Granlund, Division 4 
Director Tom Shalhoub, Division 5 

 

 

I. Call to Order 

II. Public Comments  At this time, members of the public may address the Board of Directors on matters within its 

jurisdiction; however, no action or significant discussion may take place on any item not on the meeting agenda.   

III. Staff Report 

IV. Administrative Issues 

A. Discussion of the Strategic Planning Process and the Establishment of Capital Improvement 
Priorities [Workshop Memorandum No. 18-078 - Page 27 of 40] 

V. Director Comments 

VI. Adjournment  

http://www.yvwd.dst.ca.us/


 

Staff Report 

 
Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 2 of 40



Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 3 of 40



1  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

By Ali, GEC, MRED 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Case for 
Earthquake 

Resilience    

Why Safer Structures 

Protect and Promote     

Social and Economic Vitality 
 

Feb. 23, 2018 

©2018 by Ali Sahabi, Evan Reis, and David Khorram. NOTICE: This article represents copyrighted material and may only be reproduced in whole for personal or classroom 

use. It may not be edited, altered, or otherwise modified, except with the expressed permission of the authors. Please correspond with Ali Sahabi at 

ASahabi@optimumseismic.com with any questions. Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 4 of 40

mailto:ASahabi@optimumseismic.com


2 | P a g e  
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

With a $2.4 trillion gross domestic product, a population of nearly 40 million and a rich diversity of 

lucrative industries, California boasts the sixth largest economy on the planet. It is also a region famous 

for its earthquakes, with the risk of experiencing widespread economic and social devastation at any 

moment. The best way to guard against that threat is to prepare for it – making our cities safer by 

identifying and retrofitting our vulnerable structures. 

Hurricane Katrina, so far, represents the nation’s most devastating natural disaster. Yet the U.S. 

Geological Survey estimates that an even bigger event – a 7.8-magnitude earthquake in Southern 

California – would result in more than 1,800 deaths, 50,000 injuries and $200 billion in damage, with 

long-lasting social and economic impacts. According to the USGS, the odds are stacked against California 

in terms of a major earthquake striking within the next 30 years: 99 percent for a magnitude 6.7 

temblor, and 46 percent for a magnitude 7.5 quake. 

The displacement of potentially tens of thousands of residents can have a devastating impact on a 

society, its housing market and its broad economic stability. This situation is further complicated when 

the homes lost reflect a large proportion of a community’s affordable housing stock. People without 

homes have a harder time reporting for work and that can hamper business activity. The potential 

impacts on small business, which employs 56.8 million people representing 48 percent of the U.S. 

workforce, is particularly troublesome when considering that many of these enterprises occupy the very 

buildings that are at risk of failure during an earthquake. 

Safety is of course the primary concern. However, there are real financial considerations affecting 

building owners. Legal precedent now places liability on building owners, as in the case of an 

unreinforced masonry building in Paso Robles where the courts found the owners liable for the deaths 

of two occupants (even though the building technically complied with the city’s retrofit ordinance). 

Other lawsuits stemming from the collapse of balconies and decks also show that building owners may 

be held responsible for a structure’s safety even if local jurisdictions have not passed specific ordinances 

requiring mitigation of unsafe conditions. The simple fact of knowing a building may be unsafe and not 

taking action may be grounds enough to assign blame through negligence. 

The urgency to address these concerns has prompted a new movement called the Seismic Resilience 

Initiative, (SRI). This working group, led by the United States Resiliency Council, includes BizFed, Local 

California Building Department Leaders, the Structural Engineers Association of California and others, 

and is receiving technical assistance from the California Seismic Safety Commission, California Office of 

Emergency Services, the California Department of Insurance and the International Code Council. Its 

mission is to promote statewide regulations that will identify buildings that are known to present a 

heightened seismic risk of death, injury and damage based on their age, structural system, size and 

location. 

Both the State of California Seismic Safety Commission and the Structural Engineers Association of 

California agree that California must improve the performance of our built environment through 

resilience-based design and seismic retrofits. 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 5 of 40



3 | P a g e  
 

Researchers at Caltech recently determined that for every dollar spent in retrofitting soft-story 

structures, property owners could expect to save up to seven dollars, not including loss to contents, 

alternate living expenses or deaths and injuries – all of which would significantly increase cost-to-benefit 

ratios. FEMA found similar cost benefits in a two-year analysis of seismic retrofit scenarios applied to a 

variety of building types in locations throughout the United States. 

Many West Coast cities, from San Diego to Seattle, recognize the economic value of preserving 

structures by retrofitting them in a manner that will safeguard them during an earthquake. Financial 

incentives such as density bonuses, reductions in development standards and relief from nonconforming 

provisions can incentivize building owners to perform upgrades that promote building safety and 

revitalize communities for greater economic impacts. Resilience isn’t just good for society, it’s good for 

business. 

Los Angeles Mayor Eric Garcetti in 2015 pushed for the nation’s most sweeping earthquake retrofit laws, 

requiring seismic fortification of pre-1978 wood-frame soft-story buildings and pre-1977 non-ductile 

concrete structures. This came on the heels of retrofit ordinances in San Francisco, Berkeley, and other 

cities. Since then, additional cities have adopted or are considering similar policies of their own. 

The White House, in its National Security Strategy dated December 2017, listed the promotion of 

American resilience against natural disaster as one of the country’s primary security issues for the 

coming year. The National Science and Technology Council, in characterizing the elements of disaster-

resilient communities, identifies as the top priority to recognize and understand the impacts of relevant 

hazards. 

Meanwhile, important legislation inspired by SRI and introduced Feb. 15, 2018 by California 

Assemblyman Adrin Nazarian, a longtime advocate for earthquake preparedness, aims to help cities 

identify buildings in their communities that could be at significant risk during a major quake, and to 

establish funding sources to help cover the costs to cities impacted by the law. AB 2681 will provide a 

“snapshot” of California’s vulnerabilities and the potential impacts we face as a state; and it will 

spotlight communities where there is an urgency to address the matter. The legislation includes:  

1. Developing criteria to identify seismically vulnerable building types. 

2. Directing building departments to develop an initial list of potentially vulnerable buildings. 

3. Notifying building owners that they may have potentially vulnerable buildings. 

4. Directing noticed owners to assess the vulnerability of the structure. 

5. Building and maintaining a statewide data repository of potentially vulnerable buildings. 

6. Identifying possible funding mechanisms to offset costs to building departments. 

For more information or to support the Seismic Resiliency Initiative, please visit www.usrc.org.  Public 

participation is welcome.  

 

 

  

©2018 by Ali Sahabi, Evan Reis, and David Khorram. NOTICE: This article represents copyrighted material and may only be reproduced in 

whole for personal or classroom use. It may not be edited, altered, or otherwise modified, except with the expressed permission of the 

authors. Please correspond with Ali Sahabi at ASahabi@optimumseismic.com with any questions. 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 6 of 40

http://www.usrc.org/
mailto:ASahabi@optimumseismic.com


4 | P a g e  
 

1 TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Introduction .................................................................................................................................................. 5 

The Threat of Earthquake Disaster .............................................................................................................. 6 

     The Northridge Example .................................................................................................................. 6 

Predictions for the Future ................................................................................................................ 6 

     The Great ShakeOut ......................................................................................................................... 6 

     Projected Loss by Region ................................................................................................................. 8 

Economic Impacts of Disaster ...................................................................................................................... 9 

      Widespread Business Disruption / Unemployment ........................................................................ 9 

Loss of Affordable Housing Stock .................................................................................................. 10 

Liability through Negligence .......................................................................................................... 11 

Insurance Alone is Not the Answer ................................................................................................ 13 

Retrofits Protect Social, Economic Stability .............................................................................................. 11 

   Cost Benefits to Building Owners .................................................................................................. 11 

Seismic Retrofits and Economic Development ......................................................................................... 14 

      Cities Take Action ........................................................................................................................... 16 

 Vulnerable Building Types ............................................................................................................. 17 

A Matter of National Concern .................................................................................................................... 17 

Conclusion .................................................................................................................................................. 18 

      Legislation and the Seismic Resiliency Initiative ............................................................................ 19 

End Notes .................................................................................................................................................... 21 

  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 7 of 40



5 | P a g e  
 

THE CASE FOR EARTHQUAKE RESILIENCY 
Why Safer Structures Protect and Promote Social and Economic Vitality 

 
By Ali Sahabi, GEC1; Evan Reis, S.E.2; David Khorram3, P.E., CBO 

California is the Golden State of the nation. With a $2.4 trillion gross domestic product, a population of 

nearly 40 million and a rich diversity of lucrative industries, it boasts the sixth largest economy on the 

planet and fuels much of the economic vitality of the nation, if not the world. 

The state is an economic engine, a powerhouse for prosperity. But it is far from invincible.  

California is also a region famous for its earthquakes: It’s a global hotbed of seismic activity with the 

capacity to experience widespread economic and social devastation at any moment. The best way to 

guard against that threat is to prepare for it – making our cities safer by identifying and retrofitting our 

vulnerable structures. 

Growing awareness of the threat of the “Big One” has sparked a statewide movement called the Seismic 

Resilience Initiative (SRI), a coalition of people in California who are concerned about the health and 

security of the state. A working group of stakeholders, led by the United States Resiliency Council, 

includes BizFed, California Building Officials, the Structural Engineers Association of California and 

others, and is receiving key technical assistance from the California Seismic Safety Commission, 

California Office of Emergency Services, the California Department of Insurance, and International Code 

Council.  

Additionally, California Assemblyman Adrin Nazarian on Feb. 15, 2018 introduced legislation related to 

this initiative to identify buildings at risk of failure in a major quake and to provide funding assistance to 

help cover the costs to local governments. AB 2681 will require cities in seismically volatile regions to 

identify and evaluate classes of buildings that have been proven to be vulnerable in a major earthquake. 

This generally includes mid-1990s or older wood-framed, soft-story structures; unreinforced masonry; 

tilt-up; nonductile concrete; and steel moment frame buildings. Identifying these structures is the first 

step to assessing our state’s vulnerabilities to earthquakes. Many owners or occupants may not know 

the risks associated with these buildings, which represent a large portion of California’s affordable 

housing stock and hundreds, if not tens of thousands of businesses that help fuel local economies. To 

lose these structures would bring about serious economic and social turmoil. 

This initiative is the first step in bringing about a more resilient California. It will save lives, guard against 

injury and protect the social and economic fabric of our state and nation. The following pages explain 

why such an action is needed, and why it makes good business and economic sense for building owners 

and society-at-large. 

Albert Einstein famously stated, “Given one hour to save the world, I would spend 55 minutes defining 
the problem and five minutes on finding the solution.” California needs to identify and define its 
weaknesses to earthquakes to move forward toward a plan for resiliency now, and long into the future. 
 

                                                           
1 Board Member, Los Angeles County Business Federation 
2 Executive Director, U.S. Resiliency Council 
3 President, California Building Officials 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 8 of 40



6 | P a g e  
 

THE THREAT OF EARTHQUAKE DISASTER 

We witnessed the state’s potential for earthquake 

disaster in 1994. The Northridge earthquake jolted 

Southern California a mere 10 to 20 seconds, a 6.7- 

magnitude blind-reverse thrust event that struck with 

brutal force, causing more than $67 billion in 

widespread damage. 

Homes, businesses and apartment buildings splintered 

and collapsed. Aftershocks fueled the ferocity as large 

patches of the region were left heavily damaged: Nine 

hospitals were declared unstable.  

Schools and universities were red-tagged; broken gas 

and water pipes, downed utility lines, fires, and 

flattened bridges and overpasses left many streets 

impassable. The temblor shook the earth with a power 

that produced the largest ground motion ever recorded 

in an urban environment in the United States. The scope 

of destruction ranks Northridge as one of the five 

costliest natural disasters in U.S. history.i 

Yet the magnitude of that quake was relatively mild 

compared to what could be.  

Seismologists say stress along the San Andreas fault has been building with little relief since the mid-

1800s. The next “Big One” – which could come at any moment – could be of a magnitude of 7.5 or more, 

they say. Such a quake would rip along the fault and displace it by an average of 9 feet.ii 

“Northridge was not a big quake,” Seismologist Lucy Jones told NBC News. “… If we had the same quake 

on another fault, we’d have way more damage.”iii A larger quake would decimate the local economy, 

she said. Businesses would close, people would not be able to get to work, and an exodus of residents 

would flee, leaving the City of Angels behind for others to rebuild. 

Predictions for the Future 

Hurricane Katrina, so far, represents the nation’s most devastating natural disaster. Yet experts say a 

7.8-magnitude earthquake in Southern California would result in even more deaths and nearly twice the 

damage to area infrastructure, including buildings, critical transportation, power and water systems. 

This scenario, as depicted by the “Great ShakeOut,” would “have devastating economic consequences 

for the eight-county region comprising Southern California,” researchers at the University of Southern 

California determined:iv  

Building on estimates of property damage of $113 billion and some estimates of direct business 

interruption by other members of the research team…, we estimate the total business interruption 

impacts at $68 billion and related costs at nearly $11 billion. This could make the ShakeOut 

Earthquake Scenario the costliest disaster in U.S. history. (Grossi 2009, Rose et al. 2009). v 

Researchers at the University of 

Southern California have determined 

that the economic impact of a 

projected 7.8-magnitude earthquake 

along the San Andreas Fault in 

Southern California would be the 

costliest disaster in U.S. history. Here 

are the numbers: 

$113 billion in building damage 

$68 billion in business 

interruption 

$11 billion in related costs 

Total Economic Impact: $192 

billion 

ShakeOut Scenario 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 9 of 40



7 | P a g e  
 

The U.S. Geological Survey and other agencies have confirmed USC’s numbers, estimating that a temblor 

of that size would kill more than 1,800 people, injure 50,000 and cause $200 billion in damage with long-

lasting social and economic impacts. vi Those residual impacts – as witnessed from past hurricanes, 

earthquakes, tornadoes and other natural disasters – test the resiliency of individuals, families, 

businesses, neighborhoods, lending institutions, and local, state, even federal governments. 

“When you have a big disaster, you lose a lot of money,” Jones told the Pasadena Star News. “There are 

things that are broken and wealth that is lost. But also the economic activity of the region stops. All of 

those businesses without water, without power and without transportation are no longer producing 

goods and the economic wealth that had been part of that business.”vii 

The great San Francisco earthquake 
of 1906viii, estimated at 7.8 on the 
Richter scale, killed about 3,000 and 
displaced as many as 300,000 
people who were left homeless 
from the destruction. Thousands 
fled the city. Even more set up 
camps and shantytowns, where they 
lived for years during the city’s 
arduous reconstruction. 
 
Today, because of improved 
building regulations and safer 
infrastructure, the damage caused 
from earthquakes is much less than 
what it was in the past. The United 
States Geological Services estimates 
that more than $30 billion has been 
invested in the Bay Area alone to 

retrofit buildings, replace bridges and other infrastructure to make it more resilient against 
earthquakes.ix 
 
But we also have not experienced an earthquake of the same or greater magnitude as that infamous San 
Francisco tragedy. Our most recent major seismic disasters – in Loma Prieta and Northridge – measured 
6.9 and 6.7 respectively. Given the exponential nature of the ascending Richter scale and seismologists’ 
predictions that we are long overdue for an earthquake of epic proportions that rivals or exceeds the 
force of the San Francisco quake, an increasing number of cities are taking notice and hastening to 
action to be prepared. 
 
According to the U.S. Geological Survey, “California has more than a 99 percent chance of having a 
magnitude 6.7 or larger earthquake within the next 30 years.” The likelihood of an earthquake greater 
than magnitude 7.5 occurring is 46 percent over the next 30 years.”x  
 
PROJECTED LOSS BY REGION 
 
Recognizing this threat, the California Seismic Safety Commission noted that several laws have been 
enacted to protect public buildings and infrastructure in the event of an earthquake. “Notably absent 

The San Francisco quake of 1906 left 300,000 people homeless. California has more 

than a 99 percent chance of another major quake happening in the next 30 years. 

Credit: USGS 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 10 of 40



8 | P a g e  
 

are laws and/or policies that are aimed at reducing damage to the private sector and accelerating post-
earthquake economic recovery.” The commission added that: 

 

It is imperative that appropriate policies be adopted and implemented so that California's 
businesses and industries … can recover rapidly from any damage they may incur as a 
result of the next major earthquake. The failure to do so can result in California's economy 
taking a severe blow, both due to small businesses not being able to recover and 
reestablish themselves and by larger companies relocating to other states or even 
countries which are constantly attempting to lure them away.xi 

 
A lot has been learned from earthquake 

models since the Northridge quake. We 

now understand much more about 

seismicity, ground motion and 

engineering, and these advances in 

technology have allowed us to identify 

threats based not only on geography – 

i.e., proximity to fault lines and soil 

composition – but also by building 

characteristics.xii 

The Federal Emergency Management 

Agency has adopted Geographic 

Information System (GIS) technology to 

estimate physical, economic and social 

impacts of disasters such as 

earthquakes. This nationally applied 

standard, called HAZUS, has put Los Angeles at the top of the list for annualized earthquake damage 

from an earthquake.xiii These calculations are based on seismic hazard, the likelihood of damage to 

buildings and other structures and direct and indirect losses resulting from this damage. 

 

Seismic retrofitting of vulnerable structures is critical to reducing risk, a Federal Emergency 

Management Agency study found.xiv 

 
“It’s important for protecting the lives and assets of building occupants and the continuity of their 
work,” FEMA reported. “On the whole, communities with more retrofitted structures can recover from 
earthquakes more rapidly.” 
It’s not just a matter of saving lives, guarding against injury and preserving property. In instances where 
an earthquake of significant magnitude causes widespread damage to buildings, the federal agency 
found, retrofits can protect against economic devastation as well.  
 

HAZUS Annualized Earthquake Loss (AEL)1 

Rank Region  AEL in millions 

1 Los Angeles $1,312.3 

2 San Francisco $781.0 

3 Riverside/San Bernardino $396.5 

4 San Jose $276.7 

5 Seattle $243.9 

6 San Diego $155.2 

7 Portland $137.1 

8 Oxnard $111.0 

9 Santa Rosa/Petaluma $68.6 

10 St. Louis, MO $58.5 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 11 of 40



9 | P a g e

 “If you live or work in retrofitted structures,” FEMA 
determined, “you’re less likely to be injured during an 
earthquake. After the earthquake, you’re also more likely 
to have a home and a job to which you can quickly return. 
Businesses that use retrofitted buildings are more likely to 
survive damaging earthquakes and to sustain shorter 
business interruptions and fewer inventory losses.”xv 

ECONOMIC IMPACTS OF DISASTER 

The year 2011 experienced the highest economic losses 

due to earthquakes on record. According to the Center for 

Disaster Management and Risk Reduction, more than 

20,000 people died and about a million people lost their 

homes due to earthquakes that year. 

Most significant were the earthquakes in Christchurch, 

New Zealand; and Tohuku, Japan; with more than 1 million 

buildings damaged in Japan alone.xvi 

Protecting life and limb is the primary objective in any 

threatening situation. But once the shaking and damage is 

over, what happens then? Some of the most challenging 

aspects of recovery are the displacement of residents and 

businesses, the loss of affordable housing stock, 

widespread business disruption, unemployment and 

damage to uninsured homes and other structures. 

Widespread Business Disruption 

Apart from the social chaos that can come from any disaster, one major issue is the disruption of jobs 

and economic activity following a major earthquake. People without homes have a harder time 

reporting for work and that can hamper business activity. Deliveries from vendors may be shut off for 

weeks or even longer as a result of damaged buildings and infrastructure. All this has the potential to 

lead to a distressed workforce, reluctant consumer climate and a downward spiraling economic cycle. 

The potential impacts on small business is particularly troublesome, when considering that many of 

these enterprises occupy the very buildings that are at risk of failure during an earthquake.  

Small businesses employ 56.8 million people representing 48 percent of the U.S. workforce, the Small 

Business Administration reported in 2016.xvii In short, they constitute much of the economic health of 

local communities, states and the nation. A disruption in the ability to do business   – even for a short 

while – can quickly lead to serious financial consequences, even bankruptcy. This in turn, exacerbates 

the problem with an increase in unemployment and residual impacts on other businesses and vendors. 

Apart from the loss of life and 

limb, the impacts of a major 

earthquake can strike on many 

levels.  

Macro-economic Impacts: 

• Widespread destruction of
neighborhoods and
infrastructure

• Disruption of public services

• Business disruption and loss

• Widespread homelessness
and unemployment

• Economic turmoil

• Reconstruction costs

Micro-economic Impacts: 

• Damage/destruction to
homes and businesses

• Loss of employment

• Homelessness

• Demolition and
reconstruction costs

• Bankruptcy

Macro- and Micro-
Economic Impacts  

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 12 of 40



10 | P a g e  
 

It’s not just small businesses that are at risk. Following 

the 1995 earthquake in Kobe, Japan, several 

automobile manufacturers had to cease production. 

Toyota lost its supplier of brake parts and radios, 

resulting in the loss of production of some 20,000 

vehicles.  

The Malaysian automobile manufacturer Proton had to 

halt operations for some time because the parts the 

company was receiving from Mitsubishi Motors could 

not be shipped from the damaged Kobe Port. In the 

United States, Chrysler Motors came very close to 

having to suspend operations.xviii  

Recovery of the greater Kobe region since then was 

devastatingly slow. Thirteen years later, shoe 

production – a major industry in the region – was at 

just 78.8 percent of what it was prior to the 

earthquake.  

Likewise, Japan’s robust industry for sake plummeted. 

Shipping figures in 2008 for the country’s popular rice 

brew were just 40 percent of what they once were. 

Damage to the port facilities resulted in shipping traffic 

being diverted to other ports in the region.xix 

Loss of Local and Affordable Housing Stock 

The bulk of our vulnerable buildings are represented by 

older structures that make up a disproportionately 

broad swath of our state’s more affordable housing 

stock. Housing affordability today is a critical problem 

in California, which ranks as the second most expensive 

state in the nation, behind Hawaii. Rents in Orange 

County represent 54 percent of the average tenant’s 

income, meaning that a single renter would need 

almost two full-time jobs to afford a typical two-

bedroom apartment.xx  Elsewhere in urban areas of the 

state, the situation is virtually the same. 

The Journal of Public Economics found that major earthquakes have a disproportionate impact on 

people of lower-economic demographics.xxi Researchers Nejat Anbarci, Monica Escaleras and Charles 

Register found strong correlations between wealth and resiliency, citing the discrepancy as a matter of 

social justice. The researchers called on government to help ensure a more even application of building 

safety codes and retrofits: “The ultimate lesson therefore is that building and development is simply not 

a physical process – government institutions and social processes must develop in parallel, to keep up 

 

 

“These earthquakes provide 

inescapable evidence that California 

must continue to prepare for major 

seismic events to strike.” 

State of California                                  

Seismic Safety Commission 

“Improved performance of our 

community’s and region’s built 

environment is critically important to 

saving lives as well as important to 

protecting its economy, character and 

fabric.” 

Structural Engineers Association of 

Southern California 

“If you live or work in retrofitted 

structures, you’re less likely to be 

injured during an earthquake. After 

the earthquake, you’re also more 

likely to have a home and a job to 

which you can quickly return. 

Businesses that use retrofitted 

buildings are more likely to survive 

damaging earthquakes and to sustain 

shorter business interruptions and 

fewer inventory losses.” 

Federal Emergency Management Agency 

(FEMA) 

 

In Their Words 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 13 of 40



11 | P a g e  
 

with the physical demands and assure minimum acceptable standards of construction and public 

safety.”xxii 

The displacement of hundreds if not thousands of residents can have a devastating impact on a society. 

Quite often, when large numbers of people are forced out of their homes, the housing market responds 

erratically. This situation is further complicated when the homes lost reflect a large proportion of a 

community’s affordable housing stock. 

Refugees from the 2017 fires in Napa and Sonoma counties were faced with an out-right housing crisis. 

Those who were displaced, whether they owned their homes or rented, faced an expensive real estate 

market that was already seriously squeezed by a limited housing stock – particularly for affordable 

housing. Following the fires, many of those who lost their homes fell victim to rent-gouging.xxiii Families 

with children doubled-up with neighbors hoping to keep their kids in the same school district. Those 

with pets faced added burdens.xxiv 

This dire housing situation will become an even more serious concern following a major quake in 
California, the Association of Bay Area Governments proclaimed. If many of a region’s affordable 
housing units are lost in an earthquake, “a constrained market may drive up the cost of housing even 
further. Loss or damage of housing that results in increased costs… will likely increase the number of 
permanently displaced Bay Area residents.”xxv  
 
Liability Through Negligence 
 
What legal risks do property owners face if they don’t retrofit their vulnerable buildings?  
 
A two-year study funded by the National Science Foundation’s Earthquake Hazard Reduction Program 
determined that case law has put the question in the hands of a jury to decide based on how much the 
owner knew about the building defects, how much he or she knew about retrofits that could correct 
structural weaknesses, and the cost-to-benefit analysis of having a retrofit done. The Association of Bay 
Area Governments prepared a document for businesses, warning of potential liability issues from 
earthquake damage.xxvi 
 
Building owners can be found liable, according to a precedent-setting case in Paso Robles, where, during 
an earthquake in 2003, two employees of a clothing store were crushed to death by falling bricks and 
plaster as they ran out of a building that had been ordered by the city to be seismically retrofitted but 
the deadline for completion had not yet passed. The families of the women sued the property owners 
and won.  A jury awarded them $2 million, finding that the property owners were negligent because 
they knew the building had the potential of being unsafe in an earthquake but did nothing about it. A 
state appeals court upheld the verdict in 2010.xxvii The precedent was set: It didn’t matter whether the 
quake was an “act of God” or that the building technically complied with the city retrofit ordinance 
because the deadline to have the work done had not yet passed. The jury determined that the simple 
fact of knowing a building may be unsafe and not taking action is grounds enough to assign blame 
through negligence.  
 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 14 of 40



12 | P a g e  
 

Many property owners believe that ignorance 
is a good defense against liability, and that the 
identification of vulnerable buildings may 
secure their legal responsibility if their building 
is on the list.  Knowledge that a building is 
potentially unsafe doesn’t have to come from 
a city notice. Risk can also be officially 
conveyed in documents prepared by banks and 
lending institutions, insurance companies and 
any other industry that does building 
assessments as a part of doing business.  
 
In truth, many structures have already 
undergone evaluations of some kind. It is 
common to assess the structural integrity of a 
building as a part of the sale, purchase, 
refinance and application for liability insurance 
of most properties. In the majority of these 

cases, a physical inspection is required, which includes a structural inspection of the building. These 
documents will identify seismic vulnerabilities if they exist, and they can be accessed as a part of 
discovery during litigation. 
 
In addition, similar negligence issues have recently been tested with other construction-related failures. 
The San Francisco Examiner, in explaining liability issues in a case involving the fatal collapse of a 
balcony in Berkeley in 2015, wrote that wrongful death actions could potentially be brought against the 
building’s architects, structural engineers, developers, general contractors, sub-contractors, product 
manufacturers, distributors and retailers, building owners and building managers.xxviii 
 
“Negligence is the failure to use reasonable care to prevent harm to oneself or to others,” the article 
stated. “A person can be negligent by acting or by failing to act. A person is negligent if he or she does 
something that a reasonably careful person would not do in the same situation or fails to do something 
that a reasonably careful person would do in the same situation. This would result in a civil action 
brought by private parties (in contrast to a criminal action potentially brought by the D.A.) for monetary 
damages for wrongful death and/or personal injuries. The wrongful death actions would be brought by 
the families of the six who died and the personal injury actions would be brought by those who suffered 
physical and/or emotional injuries.”xxix  
 
Insurance Alone is Not the Answer 
 
It’s no secret that earthquake insurance in California is expensive and that most property owners – 81.2  
percent, to be exact – are reluctant to buy it.xxx That’s one reason why the state in 1996 established the 
California Earthquake Authority, a nonprofit designed to help individual homeowners gain access to 
more affordable insurance options to protect themselves and their families against the threat of a major 
earthquake. 
 
Regrettably, earthquake insurance options for commercial building owners remain limited, costly and in 
many ways inadequate – putting an added burden on the potential for economic hardship, should a 
structure become damaged when the Big One strikes. Owners that do carry insurance on their buildings 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 15 of 40



13 | P a g e  
 

face burdensome deductibles of as much as 15 percent of the value of the structure. Policies that 
provide coverage for loss of income, alternative housing and other ancillary costs are frequently 
considered to be prohibitively expensive.  While earthquake insurance does not guard against death, 
injury or property damage – only retrofits can do that – it can help during the recovery process and 
should be made more affordable to protect the state’s ability to spring back from a major quake.  
 
THE GOOD NEWS: RETROFITS PROTECT SOCIAL, ECONOMIC STABILITY 
 

The State of California Seismic Safety Commission in 
2000 prepared a report on lessons learned from major 
quakes striking Turkey, Greece and Taiwan in 1999. 
Damage from the Turkey quake was shocking: with 
more than 211,000 people displaced and forced to live 
in tent cities for more than a year. “Each of these 
events provides a reminder that major earthquakes can 
strike urban areas without notice and with devastating 
impacts,” the report said. “These earthquakes provide 
inescapable evidence that California must continue to 
prepare for major seismic events to strike.”  
 
The Structural Engineers Association of Southern 

California agreed, stating, “Improved performance of our community’s and region’s built environment is 
critically important to saving lives as well as important to protecting its economy, character and 
fabric.”xxxi Yet to date, there has been no broad-reaching private-sector policy enacted to enhance the 
resiliency of California communities to withstand a major earthquake.   
 
“Too many countries are playing Russian roulette when it comes to seismic risk,” Claire Berlinski wrote 

in a Manhattan Institute commentary. “Seismic risk mitigation is the greatest urban policy challenge the 

world confronts today. If you consider that too strong a claim, try to imagine another way in which bad 

urban policy could kill a million people in 30 seconds.”xxxii  

Cost Benefits to Building Owners 
 
Researchers at Caltech recently determined that for every dollar spent in retrofitting soft-story 
structures, property owners could expect to save up to seven dollars, and that study didn’t factor in loss 
to contents, alternate living expenses or deaths and injuries – all of which would have significantly 
increased the cost-to-benefit ratios.xxxiii 
 
FEMA found similar cost benefits in a two-year analysis of seismic retrofit scenarios applied to a variety 
of building types in locations throughout the United States. The study found high benefit-to-cost ratios 
for California, including a scenario of a tilt-up warehouse building in Hayward. “In this example,” the 
study found, “the benefit/cost ratio is about 10 without the value of life and about 12 with the value of 
life. The benefit/cost analysis suggests that retrofit is strongly justified economically, even without 
including the value of life.”xxxiv That return on investment was even higher for tilt-ups with a higher 
occupancy, such as light industry, the study found.  
 

Apartment Building Value: 

$250,000 per unit 

Retrofit Cost: $7,500 per Unit 

Cost/Value Ratio: .03 

 

 

Typical L.A. Soft-Story 
Retrofit Case Study 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 16 of 40



14 | P a g e  
 

Researchers at Caltech determined that seismic 
retrofits are cost-effective when expected 
annualized loss would be reduced by 50 percent or 
more at a cost that would equal no more than 10 
percent of the replacement cost of a building.xxxv  
 
These figures show that retrofits make good business 
sense. In fact, the National Institute of Building 
Sciences in its seminal report, Mitigation Saves, 
estimates that for every dollar spent on mitigation, 
society sees a resilience benefit of four dollars or 
more.xxxvi  
 

There are other strong economic factors for building owners to consider when weighing the cost 
benefits of a seismic retrofit. These include: 
 

• Liability associated with damage, death and injury  

• Loss of income when a building gets red-tagged 

• Financial obligations tied to the original mortgage loan 

• Demolition costs including abatement of asbestos and lead 

• Reconstruction costs and cost overruns 
 
Seismic Retrofits and Economic Development 
 
Many West Coast cities, from Los Angeles to Seattle, have recognized the economic value of preserving 
structures with retrofits that will safeguard them during an earthquake.  
 
This has proven to be especially true for earthquake retrofits of unreinforced masonry (URM) buildings, 
which add a historic character and charm to communities and can bring social, environmental and 
economic benefits to a community. In many instances, the retrofitting of these buildings in downtown 
areas has helped to spark additional investment in revitalizing neighborhoods. One need only think 
about the Gaslamp Quarter in San Diego, Santa Monica’s Third Street Promenade, and other revitalized 
historic downtown neighborhoods to realize that preserving the character of a community can lend 
itself to a renaissance of renewal and economic growth.  The city of Medford, Oregon is one of the latest 
in a long line of communities that is pursuing economic benefits from the retrofitting of its buildings. 
The city has recently pursued a funding program to help downtown building owners finance retrofits, 
which officials believe would spark a revitalization effort – given that many of the buildings were already 
vacant due to a variety of problems, including blight and inhabitability problems. 
 
“If we can bolster our restaurants and nightlife and downtown residences, I think it will just have a 
snowball effect and people will come to downtown Medford to find some niche foods,” explained City 
Councilman Clay Bearnson.xxxvii 
 

“Government institutions and social 

processes must develop in parallel, to 

keep up with the physical demands and 

assure minimum acceptable standards of 

construction and public safety.” 

Journal of Public Economics 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 17 of 40



15 | P a g e  
 

California State 
Polytechnic 
University, San Luis 
Obispo, recently 
prepared an analysis 
of the cities of Paso 
Robles and Santa 
Barbara and their 
methods for 
revitalizing downtown 
areas through seismic 
retrofitting of older 
buildings, particularly 
unreinforced masonry 

structures. 
 
Typically, structures in 

need of seismic retrofitting are older in nature and frequently located within neighborhoods that are in 
decline, the study said: “By implementing (seismic retrofits) before an earthquake or similar disaster 
happens, a city can also take concurrent steps to foster the financing of necessary public infrastructure 
improvement. Consequently, these improvements will make the economics of retrofitting a building 
much more viable and achievable for the private property owner.”xxxviii 
 
Overall, the study found, public/private efforts to retrofit these historic buildings are fostering a strong 
economic climate in a central business district. “These partnerships are also critical in preserving the 
architectural history and heritage of a community. Without this sort of positive economic climate and 
these funding sources, the economic temptation to simply demolish (as opposed to retrofitting and 
preserving) an older building that needs seismic work is almost overwhelming. If this occurs, we will be 
in danger of losing the bulk of California’s 19th century architectural and historical heritage.”xxxix  
 
Historically, many cities have offered financial incentives that not only help to improve the safety of 
buildings through retrofits, but can enhance the aesthetics of a structure through façade improvements 
and other upgrades. Zoning incentives such as density bonuses, reductions in development standards 
and relief from nonconforming provisions can also incentivize building owners to perform seismic 
retrofits and upgrades that promote building safety and revitalize communities for greater economic 
impacts.xl  
 
Fullerton, in 1992, set up a seismic loan program through its redevelopment agency for the unreinforced 
masonry buildings that lined its downtown area. The retrofit program was part of a larger downtown 
revitalization effort called “Fullerton 2000 and Beyond,” which received a 1997-98 Achievement Award 
from the California Downtown Association. Evidence of the success of that revitalization can be seen in 
the transformation of the historic downtown core from a mishmash of pawnshops, tattoo parlors and 
vintage clothing stores to a vibrant destination of trendy restaurants, nightclubs and storefronts.xli 
“The Redevelopment Agency’s seismic retrofitting, commercial rehabilitation, and tenant improvement 
loan programs were clearly a crucial component of the downtown’s rebirth,” the Southern California 
Association of Governments determined in an analysis of the city’s downtown transformation. xlii 
 

Economic Engine: Seattle saw the retrofitting of its unreinforced masonry buildings as a win-win 
for the community. It protected lives and property and inspired façade upgrades that enhanced 
the character and charm of the city’s popular downtown neighborhoods. Credit: City of Seattle. 

  

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 18 of 40



16 | P a g e  
 

Likewise, several of the historic structures lining Santa 
Monica’s Third Street Promenade and downtown area 
were revitalized in conjunction with seismic retrofits to 
make them safer, including the 1875 Rapp Saloon, the 
1891 Whitworth Block building, and the 1893 Keller Block, 
which underwent a retrofit and restoration in 1987 that 
helped kick off the Third Street Promenade 
revitalization.xliii 
 
Resilience isn’t just good for society, it’s good for business, 
the U.S. Green Building Council aptly stated. 
 
“Those who incorporate resilience into their buildings, 
business processes and communities stand to fare better 
in a disaster, responding more quickly and recovering 
more fully,” the organization found. “They are also able to 
leverage disaster into positive change, using the disruption 
as a springboard into a brighter future.”xliv 
 
Cities Take Action 

Driven by a concern about the desolation that could come 

from a major quake, Los Angeles Mayor Eric Garcetti in 

2015 pushed for the nation’s most sweeping earthquake 

retrofit laws, requiring seismic fortification of pre-1978 

wood-frame soft-story buildings and pre-1977 non-ductile concrete structures, which – without proper 

strengthening – would be vulnerable to collapse during and/or after an earthquake. This came on the 

heels of retrofit ordinances in San Francisco, Berkeley, and other cities.  

Since then, several municipalities throughout California have followed suit with retrofit ordinances of 

their own, including Santa Monica, which in 2017 adopted the nation’s most comprehensive ordinance 

for not only soft-story and non-ductile concrete buildings, but unreinforced masonry and steel moment 

frame structures as well.xlv  

The City of Long Beach, like many other major California municipalities, is considering commencing a 
Seismic Resilience Initiative study and has completed a yearlong RFP process to bring on board a 
consulting engineering firm to complete the first phase of the Long Beach Building Resiliency Program 
which is tasked with identifying the city’s seismically vulnerable buildings. Since the 1933 Long Beach 
earthquake, the city has been in the forefront of seismic legislation in California, beginning with the 
inception of the Field Act (requiring retrofits of vulnerable school buildings), and Riley Act (requiring all 
cities and counties to establish departments to regulate building construction.xlvi 

 

 

 

 

The following California cities and 

counties are among those that 

have adopted or are considering 

ordinances requiring seismic 

retrofits of buildings proven to be 

vulnerable to damage in a quake.  

San Francisco 

Berkeley 

Richmond 

Freemont 

San Jose 

Alameda  

Santa Clara County 

Los Angeles County 

Los Angeles 

Beverly Hills 

Santa Monica 

West Hollywood 

 

Striving for 
Resiliency 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 19 of 40



17 | P a g e  
 

Structures generally considered at-risk for damage or failure in a major earthquake include: 

Soft-story: Wood-framed buildings with an open ground level typically used for tuck-under parking, with 

one or more stories of dwelling units above. Extremely popular as a means of conserving lot space, 

buildings of this type constructed prior to 1978 have been proven vulnerable to collapse from seismic 

activity. 

Unreinforced Masonry: These structures are characterized by walls and other building components 

made of brick or other masonry materials not braced with rebar or another reinforcing material. These 

facades can collapse during an earthquake. Most of these buildings were identified as part of an earlier 

state mandate, but there are still thousands that have yet to be retrofitted. 

Tilt-up: Tilt-up construction is a cost-effective technique of pouring a building’s walls directly at the 

jobsite and then raising or “tilting” the panels into position. Many of these structures built prior to the 

1970s were constructed with limited or weak roof connections and diaphragms that can fail during an 

earthquake. 

Non-ductile Concrete: These buildings are characterized as having concrete floors and/or roofs 

supported by concrete walls and/or frames. Their rigid construction and limited capacity of structures 

built prior to 1978 to absorb the energy of ground shaking makes them at risk for collapse. 

Steel Moment Frame: This building technique, used in the first skyscraper, was most commonly used in 

the 1960s to 1990s. Those constructed prior to 1994 can sustain brittle fracturing of the steel frames at 

welded points between the beams and columns.  

When Mayor Garcetti signed L.A.’s ordinance into law, he said he did it not only for life and safety 

issues, but to protect the city’s ability to function after that long-anticipated monster of an earthquake 

strikes. Public response to the new law has been much better than expected, particularly among 

building owners, who have recognized that it makes good business sense to retrofit their properties.  

To date, more than 15 percent of the city’s 

13,500 structures tagged for retrofits have 

begun the process with engineering studies 

and/or construction.  

“That means property saved, and more 

importantly, people saved,” Garcetti told 

the Los Angeles Times in 2017. “We just 

pray the earthquake doesn’t come before 

we finish this work. And when it does 

come, we’re all going to be better off.”xlvii 

A Matter of National Concern 
   
The White House, in its National Security 
Strategy dated December 2017, listed the 
promotion of American resilience against 
natural disaster as one of the country’s 
primary security issues for the coming year. 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 20 of 40



18 | P a g e  
 

This included a call to “Build a culture of preparedness – taking steps to promote preparedness and to 
empower communities and individuals to take action to be more resilient against the threats and 
hazards Americans face.xlviii 
 

 “Reducing risk and building more resilient communities are the best ways to protect people, 
property and taxpayer dollars from loss and disruption,” the White House stated. “Through 
risk-informed investments, we will build resilient communities and infrastructure to protect 

and benefit future generations.”xlix 
 
The White House report goes on to say that while government will be responsive to communities that 
suffer from natural disaster, much of the responsibility for recovery must take place at the local level. 
 

“Should tragedy strike, the U.S. Government will help communities recover and rebuild,” the 
report states. “Citizens must be confident in our government, but also recognize that response 

and recovery begin with individuals and local communities.”l 
 

What does an earthquake-resilient community look like? The National Science and Technology Council 

identified four key characteristics of disaster-resilient communities:li   

1. Relevant hazards are recognized and understood  

2. Communities at risk know when a hazard event is imminent 

3. Individuals at risk are safe from hazards in their homes and places of work, and  

4. Disaster-resilient communities experience minimum disruption to life and economy after a 

hazard event has passed 

 
CONCLUSION 
 
A scene in the movie “L.A. Story” shows Steve Martin dining with friends when a massive earthquake 
starts shaking wildly. Glasses rattle, tables scoot across the floor. An ice sculpture swan takes a nose dive 
into a platter of fruit. Yet everyone continues their conversation unfazed – as if nothing is happening. It’s 
all business as usual. 
 
Clearly, Californians live in earthquake denial. We laugh it off, ignore its ever-present threat to our lives 
and our livelihood. But this is an issue that should be in the forefront of everyone’s minds. Are we 
prepared at home, in our place of business, in our hospitals, schools and community? How quickly could 
we recover from that looming 7.8-magnitude earthquake, and how severely would economic disaster in 
California ripple throughout the rest of the nation?  
 
Every building protected from an earthquake represents resilience – the capacity to spring back quickly 
from hardship – for tenants, their employers, hospitals, government services and the building owners 
themselves. Every building saved means families can remain in their homes, and employees can go to 
work. It’s another step away from the chaos and crime that can come when a community shuts down. 
The first step to resilience is to identify buildings that are vulnerable to damage in an earthquake.  

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 21 of 40



19 | P a g e  
 

 
 
Legislation and the Seismic Resilience Initiative 
 
Assemblyman Adrin Nazarian, a longtime advocate for earthquake preparedness, an early warning system 
to alert residents before a quake strikes, and funding assistance to building owners to help finance much-
needed retrofits, has introduced legislation that will help to address the situation. 
 
Inspired by the Seismic Resilience Initiative, the focus of AB 2681 is to help cities identify buildings in 
their communities that could crumble or collapse during a major quake, and to identify funding sources 
to help cover the costs to cities impacted by the law.  
 
This snapshot of California’s vulnerabilities will assess the potential risks we face as a state, and spotlight 
communities where there is an urgency to address the matter. 
 
AB 2681, introduced in February 2018, would require local jurisdictions in California’s areas of highest 
seismic activity to identify and evaluate potentially vulnerable occupied buildings, including multi-family 
structures of five units or more. The fiscal impact would be minimal for local agencies to administer the 
program, and for owners to gather seismic performance data on their buildings. This information will 
give the state and its communities key metrics on California’s overall risks and potential for resilience. 
 
The specific steps would include: 

1. Developing criteria to identify seismically vulnerable building types considering age, structural 
system and other characteristics known to negatively affect seismic performance.  

2. Directing building departments in local agencies to develop an initial list of potentially vulnerable 
buildings, based on age and other publicly available information, using Tax Accessors Record 
surveys and online searches.  

3. Notifying building owners by mail that they may have potentially vulnerable buildings. 
4. Directing noticed owners to assess the vulnerability of the structure. 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 22 of 40



20 | P a g e  
 

5. Building and maintaining a statewide data repository of potentially vulnerable buildings, which 
will be updated as structures are retrofitted or replaced. 

6. Identifying possible funding mechanisms to offset costs to building departments. 
 
The widespread impacts of a catastrophic earthquake affect us all. It’s a cause of the utmost social and 
economic concern, and ultimately, seismic retrofits of our vulnerable buildings will help keep the 
economic engine of society moving forward. They help ensure public services are available for others in 
need, and building owners and financial institutions are able to continue doing business as usual – 
keeping the wheels in motion for a local market economy to thrive. 
 
Scientists agree that the “Big One” is coming. The time has come for California to join forces and face up 
to the dangers posed by earthquakes in our communities. Please support the Seismic Resilience 
Initiative in the following ways: 

• Participate/Volunteer your time in the SRI working group.  

• Contribute financially to USRC’s SRI Special Fund. 

• Sign petition to be distributed to political and civic leaders. 
 
For more information on the Seismic Resilience Initiative, please visit www.usrc.org/SRI. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

©2018 by Ali Sahabi, Evan Reis, and David Khorram. NOTICE: This article represents copyrighted material and may only be reproduced in 

whole for personal or classroom use. It may not be edited, altered, or otherwise modified, except with the expressed permission of the 

authors. Please correspond with Ali Sahabi at ASahabi@optimumseismic.com with any questions. 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 23 of 40

https://www.gofundme.com/SeismicResilienceInitiative
https://www.change.org/p/evan-r-support-the-seismic-resilience-initiative-before-the-big-one-strikes
http://www.usrc.org/
mailto:ASahabi@optimumseismic.com


21 | P a g e  
 

ENDNOTES 
 
i CNN, “Six Things We’ve Learned Since the 1994 Northridge Earthquake,” Jan. 16, 2014. 
http://www.cnn.com/2014/01/16/us/northridge-earthquake-things-learned/index.html  
ii Los Angeles Times, “A section of the San Andreas fault close to L.A. could be overdue for a major earthquake,” 
March 7, 2017. http://www.latimes.com/local/lanow/la-me-ln-earthquake-san-andreas-grapevine-20170307-
story.html 
iii NBC, “Northridge Quake 20 Years Later: 5 Lessons Not Learned,” Jan.17, 2014. 
http://www.nbclosangeles.com/news/local/Northridge-20-Years-Later-Lessons-Not-Always-Learned-
240566471.html 
iv University of Southern California, Rose, et al. “Economic Impacts of the ShakeOut Scenario.” 
http://create.usc.edu/sites/default/files/publications/economicimpactsoftheshakeoutscenario_3.pdf   
v Ibid. 
vi Pasadena Star News, “What a major earthquake would do to Southern California’s economy,” 3/17/16. 
http://www.pasadenastarnews.com/business/20160317/what-a-major-earthquake-would-do-to-southern-
californias-economy 
vii Ibid 
viii 1906 San Francisco Earthquake photo courtesy of U.S. Senate, National Archives. 
ix United States Geological Survey, “Progress toward a safer future since the 1989 Loma Prieta earthquake.” 
https://pubs.usgs.gov/fs/2014/3092/pdf/fs2014-3092.pdf 
x California Seismic Safety Commission, “Loss Reduction Plan.” http://www.seismic.ca.gov/pub/CSSC_13-
03_Loss_Reduction_Plan.pdf 
xi California Seismic Safety Commission. “Loss Reduction Plan.” http://www.seismic.ca.gov/pub/CSSC_13-
03_Loss_Reduction_Plan.pdf  
xii AIR Worldwide, http://www.air-worldwide.com/Print-Preview/24862/ 
xiii Federal Emergency Management Agency, “FEMA Prepares New Study of Annualized Earthquake Losses.” 
https://www.fema.gov/fema-prepares-new-study-annualized-earthquake-losses 
xiv FEMA. “The Importance of Building Codes in Earthquake-Prone Communities.” 
https://www.fema.gov/medialibrarydata/1410554614185e0da148255b25cd17a5510a80b0d9f48/Building_Code_F
act_Sheet_Revised_August_2014.pdf 
xv Ibid. 
xvi Earthsky, “Economic losses from earthquakes and natural disasters peaked in 2011,” March 2012. 
http://earthsky.org/earth/economic-losses-from-earthquakes-and-natural-disasters-peaked-in-2011  
xvii Small Business Profile 2016, Small Business Administration. 
https://www.sba.gov/sites/default/files/advocacy/United_States.pdf  
xviii California Seismic Safety Commission, “Loss Reduction Plan.” http://www.seismic.ca.gov/pub/CSSC_13-
03_Loss_Reduction_Plan.pdf  
xix Ibid. 
xx http://www.ocregister.com/2017/10/16/you-need-two-jobs-to-afford-orange-county-rents/  
xxi Journal of Public Economics, “Earthquake Fatalities: The Interaction of Nature and Political Economy,” June 
2004. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0047272704001525   
xxii Ibid 
xxiii “Rent gouging in post-emergency Sonoma may be on DA’s list,” Sonoma Index Tribune, Nov. 16, 2017. 
http://www.sonomanews.com/news/7649710-181/rent-gouging-in-post-emergency-sonoma  
xxiv “Northbay fire evacuees scramble to find temporary housing,” The Mercury News, 
https://www.mercurynews.com/2017/10/18/nowhere-to-go-wine-country-fire-refugees-now-face-housing-crisis/  
xxv Association of Bay Area Governments, 
http://resilience.abag.ca.gov/projects/stronger_housing_safer_communities_2015/  
xxvi ABAG, “Business Liability for Earthquake Hazards and Losses.” https://abag.ca.gov/bayarea/eqmaps/busi-
liability/summary.html  

                                                           

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 24 of 40

http://www.cnn.com/2014/01/16/us/northridge-earthquake-things-learned/index.html
http://www.latimes.com/local/lanow/la-me-ln-earthquake-san-andreas-grapevine-20170307-story.html
http://www.latimes.com/local/lanow/la-me-ln-earthquake-san-andreas-grapevine-20170307-story.html
http://www.nbclosangeles.com/news/local/Northridge-20-Years-Later-Lessons-Not-Always-Learned-240566471.html
http://www.nbclosangeles.com/news/local/Northridge-20-Years-Later-Lessons-Not-Always-Learned-240566471.html
http://create.usc.edu/sites/default/files/publications/economicimpactsoftheshakeoutscenario_3.pdf
http://www.pasadenastarnews.com/business/20160317/what-a-major-earthquake-would-do-to-southern-californias-economy
http://www.pasadenastarnews.com/business/20160317/what-a-major-earthquake-would-do-to-southern-californias-economy
https://pubs.usgs.gov/fs/2014/3092/pdf/fs2014-3092.pdf
http://www.seismic.ca.gov/pub/CSSC_13-03_Loss_Reduction_Plan.pdf
http://www.seismic.ca.gov/pub/CSSC_13-03_Loss_Reduction_Plan.pdf
http://www.seismic.ca.gov/pub/CSSC_13-03_Loss_Reduction_Plan.pdf
http://www.seismic.ca.gov/pub/CSSC_13-03_Loss_Reduction_Plan.pdf
http://www.air-worldwide.com/Print-Preview/24862/
https://www.fema.gov/media-library-data/1497362829336-7831a863fd9c5490379b28409d541efe/FEMAP-366_2017.pdf
https://www.fema.gov/media-library-data/1410554614185-e0da148255b25cd17a5510a80b0d9f48/Building_Code_Fact_Sheet_Revised_August_2014.pdf
https://www.fema.gov/media-library-data/1410554614185-e0da148255b25cd17a5510a80b0d9f48/Building_Code_Fact_Sheet_Revised_August_2014.pdf
http://earthsky.org/earth/economic-losses-from-earthquakes-and-natural-disasters-peaked-in-2011
https://www.sba.gov/sites/default/files/advocacy/United_States.pdf
http://www.seismic.ca.gov/pub/CSSC_13-03_Loss_Reduction_Plan.pdf
http://www.seismic.ca.gov/pub/CSSC_13-03_Loss_Reduction_Plan.pdf
http://www.ocregister.com/2017/10/16/you-need-two-jobs-to-afford-orange-county-rents/
http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0047272704001525
http://www.sonomanews.com/news/7649710-181/rent-gouging-in-post-emergency-sonoma
https://www.mercurynews.com/2017/10/18/nowhere-to-go-wine-country-fire-refugees-now-face-housing-crisis/
http://resilience.abag.ca.gov/projects/stronger_housing_safer_communities_2015/
https://abag.ca.gov/bayarea/eqmaps/busi-liability/summary.html
https://abag.ca.gov/bayarea/eqmaps/busi-liability/summary.html


22 | P a g e  
 

                                                                                                                                                                                           
xxvii Los Angeles Times, “Liability for quake losses a big concern for L.A. property owners.” 
http://www.latimes.com/local/la-me-earthquake-liability-20140505-story.html  
xxviii “Who is liable in fatal Berkeley balcony collapse?” San Francisco Examiner, June 2015. 
http://www.sfexaminer.com/dolan-who-is-liable-in-fatal-berkeley-balcony-collapse/  
xxix Ibid. 
xxx “Few Californians have earthquake insurance, but interest has jumped since the Mexico earthquakes,” Los 
Angeles Times, October 2017. http://www.latimes.com/business/la-fi-agenda-earthquake-insurance-20171002-
story.html  
xxxi Structural Engineers Association of Southern California, 2016 Safer Cities Survey. 
xxxii Manhattan Institute, “The Politics of Earthquakes,” July 2011. https://www.manhattan-
institute.org/html/politics-earthquakes-3165.html  
xxxiii Association of Bay Area Governments, “Soft-Story Residential Buildings in Earthquakes – Risk Management and 
Public Policy Opportunities.” http://resilience.abag.ca.gov/wp-content/documents/PR-Soft-Story.pdf  
xxxiv FEMA, “A Benefit Cost Model for the Seismic Rehabilitation of Buildings.” https://www.fema.gov/media-
library-data/1403228695368-210f1be4cbc6a07876a737a02c69a543/FEMA_227_-_A_Benefit-
Cost_Model_for_the_Seismic_Rehabilitation_of_Buildings_Volume_1.pdf  
xxxv Porter, Keith; et al, “Simple Estimation of Economic Seismic Risk for Buildings.” 
http://jimbeck.caltech.edu/papers_pdf/simplified_estimation_of_economic.pdf 
xxxvi National Institute of Building Sciences, “Mitigation Saves.” 
https://c.ymcdn.com/sites/www.nibs.org/resource/resmgr/MMC/hms_vol2_ch1-
7.pdf?hhSearchTerms=%22Mitigation+and+saves%22  
xxxvii CBS Channel 10, “Medford city councilor looking to revitalize downtown through seismic retrofitting.” 
http://ktvl.com/news/local/medford-city-councilor-looking-to-revitalize-downtown-through-seismic-retrofitting 
xxxviii California Polytechnic State University, San Luis Obispo, “Methodologies for Financing the Revitalization of an 
Historic Central Business District – Solving the Unreinforced Masonry Building Problem.” 
http://digitalcommons.calpoly.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1008&context=crpsp 
xxxix Ibid. 
xl FEMA, “Seismic Retrofit Incentive Programs: A Handbook for Local Governments.” https://www.fema.gov/media-
library-data/20130726-1452-20490-2219/fema_254.pdf 
xli City of Fullerton, “Focus on Fullerton,” May, 1998. 
http://cityoffullerton.com/gov/departments/city_manager/focus_on_fullerton/1998/may.asp 
xlii Southern California Association of Governments, “Compass Blueprint Case Study: Downtown Fullerton” 
http://www.reconnectingamerica.org/assets/Uploads/htai_fullerton.pdf 
xliii Innovative Room Design. http://innovativeroomdesign.com/an-enriching-journey-through-downtown-santa-
monicas-historic-architecture/ 
xliv U.S. Green Building Council, “Announcing the new Building Resilience-LA: A Primer for Facilities.” 
http://www.resilience.la/#intro 
xlv City of Santa Monica website: https://www.smgov.net/Departments/PCD/Programs/Seismic-Retrofit/ 
xlvi David Khorram, City of Long Beach Superintendent of Building and Safety. 
xlvii Los Angeles Times, “More than 2,100 Buildings Are Already Being Retrofitted Under L.A.’s Earthquake Safety 
Law. June 10, 2017. http://www.latimes.com/local/lanow/la-me-ln-earthquake-retrofit-garcetti-20170609-
htmlstory.html 
xlviii White House, National Security Strategy of the United States of America, December 2017.  
https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/NSS-Final-12-18-2017-0905.pdf  
xlix Ibid. 
l Ibid. 
li National Academies Press, “What is National Earthquake Resilience?” 
https://www.nap.edu/read/13092/chapter/4 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 25 of 40

http://www.latimes.com/local/la-me-earthquake-liability-20140505-story.html
http://www.sfexaminer.com/dolan-who-is-liable-in-fatal-berkeley-balcony-collapse/
http://www.latimes.com/business/la-fi-agenda-earthquake-insurance-20171002-story.html
http://www.latimes.com/business/la-fi-agenda-earthquake-insurance-20171002-story.html
https://www.manhattan-institute.org/html/politics-earthquakes-3165.html
https://www.manhattan-institute.org/html/politics-earthquakes-3165.html
http://resilience.abag.ca.gov/wp-content/documents/PR-Soft-Story.pdf
https://www.fema.gov/media-library-data/1403228695368-210f1be4cbc6a07876a737a02c69a543/FEMA_227_-_A_Benefit-Cost_Model_for_the_Seismic_Rehabilitation_of_Buildings_Volume_1.pdf
https://www.fema.gov/media-library-data/1403228695368-210f1be4cbc6a07876a737a02c69a543/FEMA_227_-_A_Benefit-Cost_Model_for_the_Seismic_Rehabilitation_of_Buildings_Volume_1.pdf
https://www.fema.gov/media-library-data/1403228695368-210f1be4cbc6a07876a737a02c69a543/FEMA_227_-_A_Benefit-Cost_Model_for_the_Seismic_Rehabilitation_of_Buildings_Volume_1.pdf
http://jimbeck.caltech.edu/papers_pdf/simplified_estimation_of_economic.pdf
https://c.ymcdn.com/sites/www.nibs.org/resource/resmgr/MMC/hms_vol2_ch1-7.pdf?hhSearchTerms=%22Mitigation+and+saves%22
https://c.ymcdn.com/sites/www.nibs.org/resource/resmgr/MMC/hms_vol2_ch1-7.pdf?hhSearchTerms=%22Mitigation+and+saves%22
http://ktvl.com/news/local/medford-city-councilor-looking-to-revitalize-downtown-through-seismic-retrofitting
http://digitalcommons.calpoly.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1008&context=crpsp
https://www.fema.gov/media-library-data/20130726-1452-20490-2219/fema_254.pdf
https://www.fema.gov/media-library-data/20130726-1452-20490-2219/fema_254.pdf
http://cityoffullerton.com/gov/departments/city_manager/focus_on_fullerton/1998/may.asp
http://www.reconnectingamerica.org/assets/Uploads/htai_fullerton.pdf
http://innovativeroomdesign.com/an-enriching-journey-through-downtown-santa-monicas-historic-architecture/
http://innovativeroomdesign.com/an-enriching-journey-through-downtown-santa-monicas-historic-architecture/
http://www.resilience.la/#intro
https://www.smgov.net/Departments/PCD/Programs/Seismic-Retrofit/
https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/NSS-Final-12-18-2017-0905.pdf
https://www.nap.edu/read/13092/chapter/4


 

 

Administrative Issues 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 26 of 40



 

Workshop Memorandum 18-078 

Date: March 8, 2018 

From: Joseph Zoba, General Manager 

Subject: Discussion of the Strategic Planning Process and the Establishment of Capital 
Improvement Priorities 

 
Over the past several decades, the Yucaipa Valley Water District has embarked on a series of 
capital improvement projects that have created integrated systems of drinking water, recycled 
water, sewer treatment, and brine disposal facilities.  The integration of these facilities have set 
the Yucaipa Valley Water District on a course to sustainably maintain exceptionally pure and 
renewable water resources. 
 

 
 
In preparation for the next decade of projects, the Board of Directors of the Yucaipa Valley Water 
District will be embarking on a strategic planning process that involves new priorities for future 
capital improvement projects.  These improvements will be structured to provide additional 
supplies of high quality water for future use within our community and make the District more 
sustainable and resilient.  
 
 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 27 of 40



Workshop Memorandum No. 18-078  Page 2 of 4 

 

 
 
 

  

Yucaipa Valley Water District 

Strategic Planning Process

Vision

Mission Statement

Values

Strategic Plan

Long-Term Objectives

Short-Term 
Goals

Actions

Implementation and Operational Plan 

- District Staff -

Strategies

Actions to be Taken

Objectives

Specific, Measurable, 
and Timely Goals

Activities

Programs, Projects 
and Steps

Tactics

Means and Methods

Strategic Plan and Oversight 

- Board of Directors -

Values

Guiding Principles

Vision

Long-Term Goals

Mission

Statement of Purpose 
and Philosophies

Goals

Desired Results to be 
Acheived

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 28 of 40



Workshop Memorandum No. 18-078  Page 3 of 4 

RESOLUTION NO. 17-2002 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
YUCAIPA VALLEY WATER DISTRICT 

ADOPTING A STATEMENT OF MISSION, VALUES AND  
PRINCIPLES FOR THE YUCAIPA VALLEY WATER DISTRICT 

 
 
WHEREAS, the members of the Board of Directors and District staff represent a diverse 
group of individuals dedicated to providing reliable water and wastewater service in an 
efficient, cost effective manner that provides a high level of customer satisfaction; and 
 
WHEREAS, it is important to clearly communicate the common vision and principles that 
guide the dedicated elected officials and employees of the District. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED AND ORDERED, that the Board of 
Directors of the Yucaipa Valley Water District, on behalf of the District staff, does hereby 
adopt the following statement of mission, values and principles. 
 

Yucaipa Valley Water District is committed to professionally managing the 
precious water, wastewater and recycled water resources of the Yucaipa 
Valley in a reliable, efficient and cost-effective manner in order to provide 
the finest service to our customers, both present and future. 
 
We are entrusted to serve the public for the benefit of the community. 
 
We believe in responsive, innovative and aggressive service, and take pride 
in getting the job done right the first time. 
 
We encourage a work environment that fosters professionalism, creativity, 
teamwork and personal accountability. 
 
We treat our customers and one another with fairness, dignity, respect and 
compassion and exhibit the utmost integrity in all we do. 
 
We believe in enhancing the environment by following a general philosophy 
of eliminating waste and maximizing recycling and reuse of our natural 
resources. 
 
We are committed to using the following operating principles as a guide to 
accomplish our mission: 

• We are proactive in our approach to issues.  

• We are committed to integrity and consistently high ethical standards 
in all our business dealings.  

• We use the strategic planning process to focus our efforts and 
minimize our crisis management mode.  

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 29 of 40



Workshop Memorandum No. 18-078  Page 4 of 4 

• We make informed, rational and objective decisions.  

• We aggressively pursue technological solutions to improve 
operations.  

• We are inclusive in our decision making and delegate responsibility 
whenever possible.  

• We design our services around customer wants and needs to the 
degree possible within our financial and regulatory constraints.  

• We cultivate widespread commitment to common goals.  
 
We believe our success depends on every employee knowing and sharing 
these values and principles 

 
 
ADOPTED this 1st day of May 2002. 
 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 30 of 40



 

 

Director Comments 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 31 of 40



 

 

Adjournment 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 32 of 40



January 2016 
 

 
 

FACTS ABOUT THE YUCAIPA VALLEY WATER DISTRICT 
 

Service Area Size: 40 square miles (sphere of influence is 68 square miles) 
 

Elevation Change: 3,140 foot elevation change (from 2,044 to 5,184 feet) 
 

Number of Employees: 5 elected board members 
62 full time employees 

 

Operating Budget: Water Division - $13,397,500 
 Sewer Division - $11,820,000 
 Recycled Water Division - $537,250 
 Total Annual Budget - $25,754,750 
 

Number of Services: 12,434 water connections serving 17,179 units 
13,559 sewer connections serving 20,519 units 
64 recycled water connections 

 

Water System: 215 miles of drinking water pipelines 
27 reservoirs - 34 million gallons of storage capacity 
18 pressure zones 
12,000 ac-ft annual water demand (3.9 billion gallons) 
Two water filtration facilities: 

- 1 mgd at Oak Glen Surface Water Filtration Facility 
- 12 mgd at Yucaipa Valley Regional Water Filtration Facility 

 

Sewer System: 8.0 million gallon treatment capacity - current flow at 4.0 mgd 
205 miles of sewer mainlines 
5 sewer lift stations 
4,500 ac-ft annual recycled water prod. (1.46 billion gallons) 

 

Recycled Water: 22 miles of recycled water pipelines 
5 reservoirs - 12 million gallons of storage 
1,200 ac-ft annual recycled demand (0.4 billion gallons) 

 

Brine Disposal:  2.2 million gallon desalination facility at sewer treatment plant 
1.108 million gallons of Inland Empire Brine Line capacity 

 0.295 million gallons of treatment capacity in Orange County  
  

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 33 of 40



January 2016 
 

State Water Contractors: San Bernardino Valley Municipal Water District 
 San Gorgonio Pass Water Agency 
 

 
 

Sustainability Plan: A Strategic Plan for a Sustainable Future: The Integration and 
Preservation of Resources, adopted on August 20, 2008. 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 34 of 40



January 2016 
 

 
  

THE MEASUREMENT OF WATER PURITY 
 

One part per hundred is generally represented by the percent (%).  
This is equivalent to about fifteen minutes out of one day. 

 
One part per thousand denotes one part per 1000 parts.  

This is equivalent to about one and a half minutes out of one day. 
 
One part per million (ppm) denotes one part per 1,000,000 parts.  

This is equivalent to about 32 seconds out of a year. 
 
One part per billion (ppb) denotes one part per 1,000,000,000 parts.   

This is equivalent to about three seconds out of a century. 
 
One part per trillion (ppt) denotes one part per 1,000,000,000,000 parts. 

This is equivalent to about three seconds out of every hundred thousand years. 
 
One part per quadrillion (ppq) denotes one part per 1,000,000,000,000,000 parts.  

This is equivalent to about two and a half minutes out of the age of the Earth (4.5 
billion years).  

 

 
  

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 35 of 40



January 2016 
 

 
  

GLOSSARY OF COMMONLY USED TERMS 
 
Every profession has specialized terms which generally evolve to facilitate communication between individuals.  
The routine use of these terms tends to exclude those who are unfamiliar with the particular specialized language 
of the group.  Sometimes jargon can create communication cause difficulties where professionals in related fields 
use different terms for the same phenomena. 

Below are commonly used water terms and abbreviations with commonly used definitions.  If there is any 
discrepancy in definitions, the District's Regulations Governing Water Service is the final and binding definition.  

 

Acre Foot of Water - The volume of water (325,850 gallons, or 43,560 cubic feet) that would cover an area of 
one acre to a depth of 1 foot.  

Activated Sludge Process – A secondary biological sewer treatment process where bacteria reproduce at a 
high rate with the introduction of excess air or oxygen, and consume dissolved nutrients in the wastewater. 

Annual Water Quality Report - The document is prepared annually and provides information on water quality, 
constituents in the water, compliance with drinking water standards and educational material on tap water.  It is 
also referred to as a Consumer Confidence Report (CCR).  

Aquifer - The natural underground area with layers of porous, water-bearing materials (sand, gravel) capable of 
yielding a supply of water; see Groundwater basin.  

Backflow - The reversal of water's normal direction of flow.  When water passes through a water meter into a 
home or business it should not reverse flow back into the water mainline.  

Best Management Practices (BMPs) - Methods or techniques found to be the most effective and practical 
means in achieving an objective.  Often used in the context of water conservation.  

Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD) – The amount of oxygen used when organic matter undergoes 
decomposition by microorganisms.  Testing for BOD is done to assess the amount of organic matter in water. 

Biosolids – Biosolids are nutrient rich organic and highly treated solid materials produced by the sewer treatment 
process.  This high-quality product can be used as a soil amendment on farm land or further processed as an 
earth-like product for commercial and home gardens to improve and maintain fertile soil and stimulate plant 
growth. 

Catch Basin – A chamber usually built at the curb line of a street, which conveys surface water for discharge 
into a storm sewer. 

Capital Improvement Program (CIP) – Projects for repair, rehabilitation, and replacement of assets.  Also 
includes treatment improvements, additional capacity, and projects for the support facilities. 

Collector Sewer – The first element of a wastewater collection system used to collect and carry wastewater 
from one or more building sewer laterals to a main sewer. 

Coliform Bacteria – A group of bacteria found in the intestines of humans and other animals, but also 
occasionally found elsewhere and is generally used as an indicator of sewage pollution.   

Combined Sewer Overflow – The portion of flow from a combined sewer system, which discharges into a water 
body from an outfall located upstream of a wastewater treatment plant, usually during wet weather conditions. 

Combined Sewer System– Generally older sewer systems designed to convey both sewage and storm water 
into one pipe to a wastewater treatment plant. 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 36 of 40



January 2016 
 

Conjunctive Use - The coordinated management of surface water and groundwater supplies to maximize the 
yield of the overall water resource.  Active conjunctive use uses artificial recharge, where surface water is 
intentionally percolated or injected into aquifers for later use.  Passive conjunctive use is to simply rely on surface 
water in wet years and use groundwater in dry years. 

Consumer Confidence Report (CCR) - see Annual Water Quality Report.  

Cross-Connection - The actual or potential connection between a potable water supply and a non-potable 
source, where it is possible for a contaminant to enter the drinking water supply. 

Disinfection By-Products (DBPs) - The category of compounds formed when disinfectants in water systems 
react with natural organic matter present in the source water supplies.  Different disinfectants produce different 
types or amounts of disinfection byproducts. Disinfection byproducts for which regulations have been established 
have been identified in drinking water, including trihalomethanes, haloacetic acids, bromate, and chlorite 

Drought - a period of below average rainfall causing water supply shortages.  

Dry Weather Flow – Flow in a sanitary sewer during periods of dry weather in which the sanitary sewer is under 
minimum influence of inflow and infiltration. 

Fire Flow - The ability to have a sufficient quantity of water available to the distribution system to be delivered 
through fire hydrants or private fire sprinkler systems.  

Gallons per Capita per Day (GPCD) - A measurement of the average number of gallons of water use by the 
number of people served each day in a water system. The calculation is made by dividing the total gallons of 
water used each day by the total number of people using the water system.  

Groundwater Basin - An underground body of water or aquifer defined by physical boundaries.  

Groundwater Recharge - The process of placing water in an aquifer.  Can be a naturally occurring process or 
artificially enhanced.  

Hard Water - Water having a high concentration of minerals, typically calcium and magnesium ions.  

Hydrologic Cycle - The process of evaporation of water into the air and its return to earth in the form of 
precipitation (rain or snow).  This process also includes transpiration from plants, percolation into the ground, 
groundwater movement, and runoff into rivers, streams and the ocean; see Water cycle.  

Infiltration – Water other than sewage that enters a sewer system and/or building laterals from the ground 
through defective pipes, pipe joints, connections, or manholes.  Infiltration does not include inflow.  See Inflow. 

Inflow - Water other than sewage that enters a sewer system and building sewer from sources such as roof 
vents, yard drains, area drains, foundation drains, drains from springs and swampy areas, manhole covers, cross 
connections between storm drains and sanitary sewers, catch basins, cooling towers, storm waters, surface 
runoff, street wash waters, or drainage.  Inflow does not include infiltration.  See Infiltration. 

Inflow / Infiltration (I/I) – The total quantity of water from both inflow and infiltration. 

Mains, Distribution - A network of pipelines that delivers water (drinking water or recycled water) from 
transmission mains to residential and commercial properties, usually pipe diameters of 4" to 16".  

Mains, Transmission - A system of pipelines that deliver water (drinking water or recycled water) from a source 
of supply the distribution mains, usually pipe diameters of greater than 16".  

Meter - A device capable of measuring, in either gallons or cubic feet, a quantity of water delivered by the District 
to a service connection.  

Overdraft - The pumping of water from a groundwater basin or aquifer in excess of the supply flowing into the 
basin. This pumping results in a depletion of the groundwater in the basin which has a net effect of lowering the 
levels of water in the aquifer.  

Peak Flow – The maximum flow that occurs over a specific length of time (e.g., daily, hourly, instantaneously). 

Pipeline - Connected piping that carries water, oil or other liquids.  See Mains, Distribution and Mains, 
Transmission. 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 37 of 40



January 2016 
 

Point of Responsibility, Metered Service - The connection point at the outlet side of a water meter where a 
landowner's responsibility for all conditions, maintenance, repairs, use and replacement of water service facilities 
begins, and the District's responsibility ends.  

Potable Water - Water that is used for human consumption and regulated by the California Department of Public 
Health.  

Pressure Reducing Valve - A device used to reduce the pressure in a domestic water system when the water 
pressure exceeds desirable levels.  

Pump Station - A drinking water or recycled water facility where pumps are used to push water up to a higher 
elevation or different location.  

Reservoir - A water storage facility where water is stored to be used at a later time for peak demands or 
emergencies such as fire suppression.  Drinking water and recycled water systems will typically use concrete or 
steel reservoirs.  The State Water Project system considers lakes, such as Shasta Lake and Folsom Lake to be 
water storage reservoirs. 

Runoff - Water that travels downward over the earth's surface due to the force of gravity.  It includes water 
running in streams as well as over land.  

Sanitary Sewer System - Sewer collection system designed to carry sewage, consisting of domestic, 
commercial, and industrial wastewater. This type of system is not designed nor intended to carry water from 
rainfall, snowmelt, or groundwater sources.  See Combined Sewer System. 

Sanitary Sewer Overflow – Overflow from a sanitary sewer system caused when total wastewater flow exceeds 
the capacity of the system.  See Combined Sewer Overflow. 

Santa Ana River Interceptor (SARI) Line – A regional brine line designed to convey 30 million gallons per day 
of non-reclaimable wastewater from the upper Santa Ana River basin to the sewer treatment plant operated by 
Orange County Sanitation District. 

Secondary Treatment – Biological sewer treatment, particularly the activated-sludge process, where bacteria 
and other microorganisms consume dissolved nutrients in wastewater. 

Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition (SCADA) - A computerized system which provides the ability to 
remotely monitor and control water system facilities such as reservoirs, pumps and other elements of water 
delivery.  

Service Connection - The water piping system connecting a customer's system with a District water main 
beginning at the outlet side of the point of responsibility, including all plumbing and equipment located on a parcel 
required for the District's provision of water service to that parcel.  

Sludge – Untreated solid material created by the treatment of sewage. 

Smart Irrigation Controller - A device that automatically adjusts the time and frequency which water is applied 
to landscaping based on real-time weather such as rainfall, wind, temperature and humidity.  

Special District - A political subdivision of a state established to provide a public services, such as water supply 
or sanitation, within a specific geographic area.   

Surface Water - Water found in lakes, streams, rivers, oceans or reservoirs behind dams.  

Total Suspended Solids (TSS) – The amount of solids floating and in suspension in water or sewage. 

Transpiration - The process by which water vapor is released into the atmosphere by living plants.  

Trickling Filter – A biological secondary treatment process in which bacteria and other microorganisms, growing 
as slime on the surface of rocks or plastic media, consume nutrients in primary treated sewage as it trickles over 
them. 

Underground Service Alert (USA) - A free service that notifies utilities such as water, telephone, cable and 
sewer companies of pending excavations within the area (dial 8-1-1 at least 2 working days before you dig).  

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 38 of 40



January 2016 
 

Urban Runoff - Water from city streets and domestic properties that typically carries pollutants into the storm 
drains, rivers, lakes, and oceans. 

Valve - A device that regulates, directs or controls the flow of water by opening, closing or partially obstructing 
various passageways.  

Wastewater – Any water that enters the sanitary sewer. 

Water Banking - The practice of actively storing or exchanging in-lieu surface water supplies in available 
groundwater basin storage space for later extraction and use by the storing party or for sale or exchange to a 
third party.  Water may be banked as an independent operation or as part of a conjunctive use program.  

Water cycle - The continuous movement water from the earth's surface to the atmosphere and back again; see 
Hydrologic cycle.  

Water Pressure - Pressure created by the weight and elevation of water and/or generated by pumps that deliver 
water to the tap.  

Water Service Line - The pipeline that delivers potable water to a residence or business from the District's water 
system.  Typically the water service line is a 1” to 1½” diameter pipe for residential properties.  

Watershed - A region or land area that contributes to the drainage or catchment area above a specific point on 
a stream or river.  

Water Table - The upper surface of the zone of saturation of groundwater in an unconfined aquifer.  

Water Transfer - A transaction, in which a holder of a water right or entitlement voluntarily sells/exchanges to a 
willing buyer the right to use all or a portion of the water under that water right or entitlement.  

Water Well - A hole drilled into the ground to tap an underground water aquifer.  

Wetlands - Lands which are fully saturated or under water at least part of the year, like seasonal vernal pools 
or swamps.  

Wet Weather Flow – Dry weather flow combined with stormwater introduced into a combined sewer system, 
and dry weather flow combined with infiltration/inflow into a separate sewer system. 

 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 39 of 40



January 2016 
 

 
  

COMMONLY USED ABBREVIATIONS 
 

AQMD Air Quality Management District 

BOD Biochemical Oxygen Demand 

CARB California Air Resources Board 

CCTV Closed Circuit Television 

CWA Clean Water Act 

EIR Environmental Impact Report 

EPA U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 

FOG Fats, Oils, and Grease 

GPD Gallons per day 

MGD Million gallons per day 

O & M Operations and Maintenance 

OSHA Occupational Safety and Health Administration  

POTW Publicly Owned Treatment Works 

PPM Parts per million 

RWQCB Regional Water Quality Control Board  

SARI Santa Ana River Inceptor 

SAWPA Santa Ana Watershed Project Authority 

SBVMWD San Bernardino Valley Municipal Water District 

SCADA Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition system 

SSMP Sanitary Sewer Management Plan 

SSO Sanitary Sewer Overflow 

SWRCB State Water Resources Control Board  

TDS Total Dissolved Solids 

TMDL Total Maximum Daily Load 

TSS Total Suspended Solids 

WDR Waste Discharge Requirements 

YVWD Yucaipa Valley Water District 

Yucaipa Valley Water District - March 8, 2018 - Page 40 of 40




